

  

    

  




  





  





  A DEADLY RACE AGAINST TIME ACROSS THE VAST ALASKAN WILDERNESS




   




  An overworked detective, a dedicated game warden, and a veteran bush pilot team up in this epic saga as big as Alaska itself. A child is snatched from the Anchorage bus station. Clues developed during the search suggest she's being held by a pedophile and his ex-con buddy, and that they are hatching a plot to blow up the trans-Alaska pipeline. Then Detective Gomez learns that the pedophile murdered his last victim. The race is on to save the child before the killer tires of her and to prevent a monumental environmental disaster in the heart of Alaska’s sweeping wilderness.
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  “A real page-turner.”—Ken Marsh, Public Information Officer, Alaska Department of Fish & Game.




   




   




  “A good read.”—Larry Bottjen, videographer and retired Alaska educator.




   




   




  “I ripped through this book in two days while at my resort, reading it from cover to cover on a holiday weekend.”—Gale Kaas, publisher, Frazee (Minnesota) Forum, a weekly community newspaper.




   




   




  “The helicopter rescue…absolutely the best flying story I have ever read.”




  —James Cavin, retired Alaska Fish and Wildlife Trooper.




   




  “I couldn’t put it down, it so thoroughly held my attention and kept me on the edge of my seat.”—Paul Schlienz, Managing Editor, Washington Restaurant Magazine.
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  Author’s Note




  Living in Alaska, it’s often difficult to discern the dividing line between reality and fiction. Pipeline is, of course, a work of fiction, but, as the hackneyed Hollywood line goes, “This story was inspired by actual events.” Much of what is described in Pipeline really happened. And, much of what is written here tells of things that really could happen.




   




  For example, the Anchorage Daily News article quoted at length near the beginning of the story is real. The excerpts from the article used in the story are lifted directly from the paper’s archives. The reaction to the article by employees at Pump Station 4 is also real. I know because I was the helicopter pilot seated at the table that night.




   




  The ending, too, is based on a real-life incident. An Alaska State Trooper CERT team did get in a helicopter shootout with a murderer back in the mid-1980s. Trooper Troy Duncan, riding in the front seat of the helicopter, was killed by the suspect, who was in turn killed by the trooper in the backseat firing a 20-round burst from an M-16 on full automatic. As part of this incident, the words in the last sentence of this story have been attributed to the backseat trooper, though I learned of them from another source. Troy Duncan was my friend; the backseat trooper, now long retired, is also a friend.




   




  Other scenes in this book, too numerous to list here, refer to real-life incidents. All have been fictionalized to some extent to fit within the context of this story, but all are part of the fabric of Alaska, a place that’s as much a state of mind as it is a State of the Union. Thus to live in contemporary Alaska is to live balanced on the edge between modern civilization and a fading frontier. This imparts a special zest to life that few will ever know.




   




  “Come quick, I’m being eaten by a bear,” is just one of a thousand possible examples of what the next moment might bring.




   




  Ron Dalby
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  “A man’s character is his fate.”




  —Heraclitus, 540-480 BC
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  Tuesday, May 20, 1980




  





  





  Elm Street




  Independence, Missouri




  Everyone who knew Janie Wilson agreed that she was the perfect child. As she approached her 12th birthday, Janie led her sixth-grade class at Jefferson Elementary School scholastically, her teachers adored her bright and bouncy personality, and all her classmates clamored to join her ever-widening circle of friends.




  Her parents doted on Janie, an only child. Her Daddy, a long-haul trucker, never returned from a run without bringing her some sort of trinket hinting at the places he’d been. And though her Mom worked outside the home to help make ends meet, she was never too busy to help with homework or give advice on dealing with the concerns of a girl on the cusp of becoming a teenager. After school most days, a plate of home-baked cookies or brownies carefully covered in plastic wrap lay waiting on the table.




  No children her age lived close by, but Jocelyn Dunham next door, three years older, was a confidant and occasional playmate. And Janie absolutely idolized Jocelyn’s brother, Phil, 17, who looked after her when she came home from school until her mother returned from work. Ever since her first toddling steps outside, Janie had looked to Phil as her big brother and protector.




  Phil had dropped out of high school five months previously following a lengthy argument with his mother. Later, finding he could not enlist in the Army without a high school diploma, he had taken classes and a couple of exams and earned a GED. As spring began evolving into summer, Phil started badgering his mother to sign the necessary papers so he could join the Army before his 18th birthday. His mother finally relented and in early May gave permission for Phil to enlist.




  In the weeks leading up to Phil’s departure, he began spending more and more time with Janie when she came home from school. Later some would say that this is about the time Janie’s personality began changing. Nothing definitive, mind you, perhaps nothing more than hindsight jarring a few consciences. No one really knew anything for certain.




  Janie never talked about the change in her behavior, and she still rushed home from school every day to be with Phil. But as the days passed in May, Janie seemed to gradually distance herself from her friends, her teacher, and even her mother.




  The last time anyone remembered seeing Janie was shortly after 3:30 in the afternoon of May 20 as she left Jefferson Elementary for the six-block walk home. A thunderstorm was bearing down on the city, but Janie told her teacher that she was sure she could run home before it struck. Minutes later a drenching downpour sent everyone scurrying indoors. Janie was never seen again.




  That evening a police officer took a statement from Janie’s mother and picked up Janie’s sixth-grade school picture. It showed a bright-eyed girl with slightly mussed light-brown hair, a handful of freckles, and a toothy grin that would ultimately require braces.




  Denise Wilson, Janie’s mother, told the officer that she had asked the Dunham boy where Janie was, and he said she never came home from school and that he assumed Mrs. Wilson had either picked her up or that Janie had some sort of after-school activity. Mrs. Wilson assured the officer that she trusted the Dunham boy completely and that Janie adored him. The Wilson’s had lived next door to the Dunham’s for nearly 20 years.




  She repeated these words to Detective Miles Cochran at 8 the next morning, adding in response to a question that Phil had no access to a vehicle during the day.




  Denise Wilson spent the night pacing the floor and crying, hoping her husband John would call. He didn’t, but he returned from a run to Los Angeles the next day. When he heard Janie was missing, his knees weakened, he lurched into a kitchen chair, put his head in his hands, and began quietly sobbing. A packet of Grand Canyon postcards intended for Janie peeked from his jacket pocket.




  Cochran, a seasoned detective, talked to Janie’s teachers, her school friends, and to Mrs. Dunham and her kids, but could not uncover a single lead. He began leaning toward the theory of an abduction by a stranger as Janie walked home from school in the storm, bolstered in part by a witness who vaguely remembered a black sedan cruising slowly back and forth on the street in front of the school that afternoon.




  Weeks went by, and Cochran reluctantly concluded that the next clue would be Janie herself, dead or alive. The investigation led nowhere, and the detectives moved on to other cases.




  The pain of his daughter’s disappearance hit John Wilson hard. He began drinking heavily and increased his smoking habit to more than three packs of unfiltered cigarettes a day. He died alone, in a sleeping bag in his cab in a roadside rest area along Interstate 80 in Wyoming on an icy January night less than seven years later. Those who knew him best said he died of a broken heart.




  Denise Wilson vowed not to go to her grave until she knew what happened to Janie. She left Janie’s room exactly as it was when she left for school that fateful morning and never gave up hope. For eleven years she waited. Then a detective 4,000 miles away in Anchorage, Alaska, uncovered the secret of Janie’s disappearance while investigating another case that exploded in breath-taking headlines just hours after Janie was found.




   




  Friday, January 25, 1991




  





  





  Dining Room, Pump Station 4




  Trans-Alaska Pipeline, 5:40 p.m.




  Four-foot-wide windows rise from just below waist level to eight feet above the floor and cover the entire south and west walls. Three panes of glass, the spaces between them a vacuum, keep the outside air at bay—currently it’s 32 degrees below zero.




  Beyond these windows the winter cold never relents, and January is the cruelest month. The sun never rises above the peaks of the Brooks Range south of the station; only an ethereal twilight at midday offers any natural light. The snow-covered tundra of the rolling hills surrounding the pump station seemingly stretches to infinity, and is, for the most part, trackless.




  But fleeting beauty exists here. On clear nights, the aurora borealis often dances through the heavens, and the magenta hues of midday twilight yield a color seen nowhere else in Nature. Beyond these few pleasures, little recommends this place in January, except the generous paychecks provided by the employer.




  An evening meal rivaling the fare of a top-quality restaurant simmers in steam trays on a stainless-steel serving line. In this week-on, week-off world of 12-hour workdays, good food is the keystone of pump station morale. Meals offer a starting point for conversations among people who have little in common besides their employer.




  “I swear,” Jeff Dahlgren said, “the only fish more tasteless than tilapia is lutefisk.”




  “What the fuck is lutefisk?” Ed Feller said through a mouthful of food.




  “It’s cod, I think. It’s sort of a national dish in Sweden, and it’s essentially boiled until all that is left is gelatinous, translucent mass.”




  “You damned pilots and your big words. What’s a gelatinous, translucent mass?”




  “Kind of looks like water-colored Jell-O®.”




  “Why didn’t you say so?”




  “Is this a private party, or can anybody sit here?” Bob Hamilton set a tray in front of an empty chair and sat down.




  “At least you skipped the tilapia and went for the fried shrimp and scallops…and some French fries, nature’s most perfect food,” Dahlgren said, peering at Hamilton’s tray. “You on nights this week?”




  “Yeah, me and Sam. He’ll be here in a minute. He’s roaring mad about something, which I’m sure we’ll hear about when he sits down.”




  “Sam’s always in an uproar. This place would be excruciatingly dull otherwise.”




  “There you go with them big words, again,” Feller said.




  “Meantime,” Hamilton went on, eyeing Dahlgren with a mischievous grin, “I’m told there’s caribou burger splattered all over the river bottom below Pump 3.”




  “Stupid highway crew,” Dahlgren said, looking down at his tray.




  “You better spit out the story or you’re not gonna get any peace.”




  Dahlgren set down his fork, looked around the table, grinned, and said, “Ahh, what the hell…it was kinda funny.”




  “Well, don’t keep us in suspense.”




  “Seems a trucker hit and killed a caribou last week, and it ended up in the ditch alongside the road. Naturally the carcass froze solid in a couple of hours.




  “Wolves found it last night, started gnawing on it, and DOT goes crazy because they’ve got a crew working along there. So some Einstein at DOT calls Alyeska and asks to have the helicopter sling the carcass across the river.




  “I get there, hover over the carcass, and they loop a rope on my cargo hook. Then I lift the carcass off the ground and take-off toward the river. I guess I had gotten to maybe 600 or 700 feet and maybe 60 knots when the rope broke.”




  “Did you yell bombs away?” Hamilton asked as Feller snorted and started laughing.




  “Nope, but I gotta say the impact was spectacular. It smashed into the rocks at the edge of the Sag River, and 300-plus pounds of frozen-hard-as-a-rock bone, meat, guts, and hide exploded in a pink flash—sort of like a block of colored ice hitting concrete after being dropped from 50 stories up.




  “Landing nearby, I couldn’t find a piece bigger than one of my fingers. And some of those pieces were a hundred feet or more from the point of impact.”




  Hamilton and Feller were still snickering when an overloaded tray thumped onto the table in front of the last empty seat, and Sam Winslow plopped into it. “Quit giggling and listen up,” he bellowed, turning heads from tables across the room.




  “The goddamned Anchorage Daily Worker just told a terrorist how to blow up the pipeline.” He pulled a folded, battered copy of that day’s Anchorage Daily News A section from a hip pocket and slapped it on the table. “On the front page, no less.”




  The headline read, “Trans-Alaska pipeline vulnerable to terrorist attack.”




  “Those dumb bastards told terrorists just where they could cause the most damage, the pump stations and especially the pump stations at the start of the mountain passes. And the terminal in Valdez.




  “And they talk about the major river bridges, especially the Yukon River Crossing.”




  “Lemme see that,” Dahlgren said, grabbing the newspaper. As an Alyeska Pipeline Service Co. contract helicopter pilot he routinely flew security guards on pipeline patrols. River crossings and pump stations always got extra scrutiny.




  Scanning the article, Dahlgren said, “This does tell you where to create the biggest mess, and even describes some of the security stuff in place to stop it.”




  “Ain’t nothin’ we can do about it,” Feller said, through another mouthful of food. He paused, swallowed, and added, “If they fuck it up, I’ll fix it.”




  Feller’s ability to fix anything was legendary along the trans-Alaska Pipeline. He’d grown up on a hardscrabble farm on the high plains of west Texas where the ability to patch broken-down machinery with rudimentary tools and bits of scrap metal often made the difference between success and failure in any given year. He never had much time for book learning. But every pump station manager in the system wanted Feller on his crew. He was the go-to guy for unexpected mechanical problems in the very mechanical world of an 800-mile-long, four-foot-diameter, hot-oil pipeline.




  “Poker starts about 7:30,” Feller said, “just as soon as the cook finishes cleaning up.”




  “I’m in,” Dahlgren replied. “I use my poker winnings for play money during my weeks off.”




  “You must not have much fun, then,” Hamilton said.




  “Have fun, you bastards,” Winslow said. “I’ll spend the night in the control room wondering who else is reading this damned article.”




  





  Probation Office, 411 W. 4th Avenue




  Anchorage, Alaska, 6:10 p.m.




  Seething, George Bingham stalked out of the Anchorage Probation Office, head down, jacket unzipped, hands jammed in his coat pockets. Thirty-eight years old and that bastard makes me piss in a cup in front of witnesses. Then he checks the temperature just to make sure it’s warm piss. About the only thing he didn’t do was take a picture.




  And he’s running two hours late so my 4 p.m. appointment didn’t start ‘til nearly 6. Fucking asshole.




  Dark and dank, Anchorage, Alaska, on a January evening can depress the most buoyant personality. People spend as little time as possible outdoors, hurrying from a house or apartment to a vehicle and speeding off into the darkness within its climate-controlled confines. At their destinations they hurry from the car into an office or a store, keeping exposure to a minimum.




  And when you’re further restricted within the confines of the legal system, Anchorage in winter can be like a prison. Part of it is the snow, which grows dirtier the longer it lingers. Anchorage has never learned to effectively handle the relentless snows of a sub-Arctic winter. Walking is difficult and parking often inconvenient.




  Bingham plodded along the unshoveled sidewalk as he struggled toward his pickup. Already mad, his anger intensified with every step. And though the urinalysis had incensed him, his anger was rooted in the discussion beforehand.




  Bingham wanted to move back home to California, and asked about working with the probation system in that state. His probation officer refused, telling him that moving to California was almost impossible until he satisfactorily finished his probation. The paperwork alone would take weeks, and he didn’t have the time.




  I hate this fucking state. I hate that goddamned probation officer who’s too lazy to fill out the paperwork. I hate that fucking lawyer who convinced me to plead guilty because the judge would go easy for a first offense. And I really hate that fucking Rod Martin, the game warden trooper that busted me.




  It happened during a Greenpeace operation on Alaska’s North Slope in late August 1989. Bingham had joined a bunch of environmental nut jobs planning to use inflatable boats to stop the barges bringing drilling equipment to the oil companies on the North Slope. Just how they planned to stop tug-and-barge combinations weighing many thousands of tons with rubber dinghies was never made clear, but such trivialities didn’t matter to this bunch.




  Before leaving San Francisco, Bingham purchased a large bag of California’s finest marijuana. Tucking the pot into the bottom of a carry-on bag, he flew from San Francisco to Anchorage via Seattle and from Anchorage to Deadhorse near Prudhoe Bay without mishap. He figured he’d see a little of Alaska’s famed wilderness, get high, and swap some marijuana for favors from the women who often outnumbered men on these Greenpeace excursions.




  Once he got to Alaska, Greenpeace covered his expenses using money solicited from donors ignorant of its true uses. As far as the oil drilling Greenpeace wanted to stop, Bingham didn’t give a damn one way or the other.




  Stepping off the plane in Deadhorse, the scenery appalled him. This wasn’t the grandeur of Alaska he expected. Flat and featureless, Alaska’s North Slope was the ugliest landscape he’d ever seen. Where, he wondered, was the pristine wilderness?




  Renting a pickup truck and getting all the equipment from the airport to the banks of the Sagavanirktok River, locally known as the Sag River, hadn’t been all that difficult, nor had setting up camp once there. Things didn’t begin going wrong until the next morning.




  The plan was to inflate rubber boats, float or paddle downstream a few miles to the Beaufort Sea, then start outboard motors to charge out and harass the tugs and barges of the annual sea lift bringing equipment to the docks serving the oil fields. With luck, someone with a television camera would document the protestors’ courage. If not, they had their own camera and would later provide tapes to various news outlets, even those whose commentators might suggest, with barely repressed laughter, that Greenpeace’s idea of courage might better be described as stupidity.




  The plan looked foolproof to those who plotted the operation while standing before a map of Alaska pinned to the wall of a San Francisco office. None of the planners, however, had ever been to the North Slope. And none of them would leave the comforts of the city to sleep on the tundra. The impossibility of implementing the plan only became evident to the volunteers when they reached the banks of the Sag River.




  Quite simply, the inability to reach the ocean gummed up the whole scheme.




  To start with, it was cold, windy, and foggy. You could rarely see more than 200 yards and the temperature never climbed above 40 degrees. The wind howled incessantly. Typical late-summer weather on Alaska’s North Slope.




  Then there was the river itself. They camped at the apex of a delta where the Sag split into a number of narrow, ankle-deep channels during the last few miles before it flowed into the Beaufort Sea. Greenpeace could never find a way to the sea deep enough for their rubber boats, and each night the “Pathfinders,” as they were called, waded back upstream to camp dragging the rubber boats through the shallows.




  And all the while they were being watched. The oil companies weren’t about to risk these greenhorns getting hurt or killed because of the lousy publicity that would follow. So they teamed up to charter a helicopter from ERA Aviation to keep tabs on the group and to make certain that if anybody managed to reach the ocean, potential trouble could be dealt with before it got out of hand. The pilots and the state troopers and security guards riding along at different times laughed uproariously watching this boondoggle unfold. Boats were swamped, paddlers were soaked, no one ever got within three miles of the Beaufort Sea, and one punctured boat was left almost a mile downstream when it proved too difficult to drag back to camp.




  After six days, food began running short. Then somebody got the bright idea of netting fish from the river. There were both Arctic char and grayling in the stream, though not many of either, but they managed to catch a few fish using a gill net someone dug out of a survival kit.




  The next day, the helicopter again drifted out of the fog. This time it landed near the camp. When the rotor stopped turning, Fish and Wildlife Protection Trooper Rod Martin stepped down from the left front seat and strode into the camp. He first went to the river’s edge and pulled up the net, which was anchored to the river bank on one end and staked out in a couple feet of water on the other end. Two fish were entangled in the mesh.




  When no one admitted owning the net, Martin wrote two citations for every person in camp: one for fishing without a license and the other for illegal methods and means. Only persons purchasing an Alaska fishing license and using rods and reels can legally fish in fresh water streams. All of the people cited were to appear in Alaska district court in Fairbanks three days hence. Arrest warrants would be issued for anyone failing to appear.




  Martin then walked through the camp using a Rollei 35mm camera to photograph the food wrappers and other detritus scattered by the wind.




  He approached the woman who seemed to be in charge. “You people claim to be defending the environment,” he said, “yet your camp is a dump. Doesn’t that make you hypocrites?”




  “Our mission is more important than a clean camp,” she said.




  Martin looked her in the eye and said with quiet force, “If this campsite is not cleaned up when you leave, I will cite you for littering as a minimum and possibly prefer other charges for damaging the environment after I confer with the Alaska Department of Natural Resources. And that includes your abandoned rubber boat, motor, and gas tanks a mile or so downstream. Get those things out of the river or you’re going to face more charges. Is that clear?”




  She stared back at him, eyes blazing, as if to say, How dare you? Martin didn’t blink. After about 15 seconds, she slowly lowered her head and softly mumbled, “Whatever,” through clenched teeth.




  Striding through the camp, Martin came upon a folding stool outside of Bingham’s tent. On it was a large bag of vegetation and a box partially full of condoms. A handwritten note pinned to the bag read, “Help yourself.”




  Martin picked up the bag, sniffed its contents, decided it was probably marijuana, and asked, “Whose tent is this?”




  The woman he had spoken to moments before pointed to Bingham and said, “His.” While she had enjoyed using some of the marijuana and a couple of the condoms, she wasn’t going to jail for dealing drugs. Besides, Bingham had proven himself absolutely worthless in the quest to intercept the tugs and barges.




  In handcuffs, Bingham got a free flight to Fairbanks that afternoon. A judge released him on bail the next morning. He had to call his father for money—for bail, to pay an attorney, and for living expenses. He’d been stuck in Alaska ever since, surviving on food stamps and welfare and whatever funds he could cajole from his father.




  Now, here I am pissing in a bottle every couple of weeks for a probation officer who doesn’t care if I live or die, Bingham thought as he approached his pickup truck. He got even madder when he found a parking ticket under the driver’s side windshield wiper. He wadded it up and threw it in the gutter, cursing yet again, loud enough this time to attract the attention of other pedestrians.




  Inside the truck, Bingham started the engine and wondered what to do next. Slamming his hand against the steering wheel, he put the truck in gear and drove into the gloom, spinning his wheels in the snow as he took off.




  





   




  Europa Café and Bakery




  Anchorage, Alaska, 7 p.m.




  Bingham, still angry, settled into a chair with a cup of fragrant Kaladi Brothers coffee and reached for the newspaper a previous patron had left on the next table.




  Caffeine hadn’t always been his drug of choice. Two decades earlier at the University of California, Berkeley, most of his classmates held Bingham in awe due to his capacity for and enjoyment of the various chemicals available. “Sex, drugs, and rock and roll” was his mantra back then, though later he admitted that the illegal substances interfered both with the performance and the memories of the other pleasures. And because of his lousy grades—he left Berkeley after six years without graduating—Dad finally tired of paying tuition with no result.




  Bingham unfolded the paper he had retrieved from the other table. Right away the words “pipeline” and “vulnerable” on the front page caught his eye. Sipping coffee, he scanned the article, jumping to the back page of the A section to finish it. Then he paused, sipped thoughtfully from his cup while wishing he could have a cigarette in this non-smoking bakery restaurant, spread the paper flat on the table, and leaned forward to carefully reread portions of the text.




  





  





  





  TRANS-ALASKA PIPELINE AREAS VULNERABLE TO TERRORIST ATTACK




  By Kim Fararo




  Daily News Reporter




  In recent weeks, Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., the oil company consortium that operates the pipeline, added more security guards at its pump stations, the home of the giant turbines that push the crude south. And the Coast Guard posted a cutter outside the Valdez terminal to protect it from a ship-launched assault.




  […]




  Most important, successful attacks at the pump stations or the terminal would be almost sure to accomplish one possible terrorist goal: a shutdown of the line for anywhere from days to weeks and a longer term disruption of crude deliveries to the Lower 48.




  […]




  The debate over the trans-Alaska pipeline’s security predates the 1977 completion of the line, which carries about 2 million barrels of crude daily from the North Slope oil fields to tankers in Valdez.




  




  As Bingham was reading, Del Koho ambled in, sat down and started to speak. Bingham motioned him to silence and continued reading.




   




  Early critics argued the line was extremely vulnerable to terrorist attack because so much of it was in remote areas where it is impossible to keep a 24-hour watch. In 1978, a bomber proved them correct by blowing a hole in the line near Fairbanks, causing a spill of 15,000 barrels.




  In the ‘80s, the line’s vulnerability again attracted attention, this time from the Reagan administration, which mainly feared a Soviet attack. Ed Badolato, a former deputy assistant secretary at the federal Energy Department, said the worry grew as production from Lower 48 oil fields declined, boosting the importance of the Alaska line.




  “It has a special, vital national security role,” Badolato said.




  […]




  These days, nobody, not even Alyeska, pretends remote portions of the far-flung pipeline can be well defended. Since war broke out in the Middle East, the company has increased foot patrols and helicopter surveillance flights, but officials are not blind to the facts.




  More than half the steel pipe is above ground, and at countless places along the route from Valdez to Prudhoe Bay the line runs within a few hundred yards of public roads. And experts say explosives are not hard to come by, especially for organized terrorist groups.




  Irwin Pikus of the Center for Strategic and International Studies in Washington, D.C., said a bomber would need only a backpack full of certain types of explosives to blow a hole in the line. For that matter, he pointed out, a high-powered rifle could cause enough damage to force a short-term closure of the line.




  […]




  Weather in Alaska could certainly slow repairs, but most experts doubt the line would be down more than a week.




  There are, however, 13 possible exceptions, places where the line crosses rivers and are supported by bridges. Gutierrez said repairs there could take longer because the bridges, as well as the pipes, would need to be fixed.




  Badolato agrees. He toured many sites along Alaska’s pipeline as deputy assistant secretary in charge of energy emergency preparedness. Particularly troublesome, he said, is the Yukon River Crossing, which he called a “critical choke point.”




  The reason for concern, he said, is that the bridge is long, stretching between a third and a half mile, and repairs there could be time consuming. The bridge also is accessible because it is part of the haul road to the North Slope.




  […]




  The 10 pump stations that push the oil south also are considered critical parts of the line.




  Isaacs and Jerry Brossia, the state’s pipeline coordinator, pointed out that Alyeska has at least one set of mobile turbines, what the company calls a portable pump station that it could haul out to the site of a terrorist attack.




  The company used the spare turbines last year to keep the pipeline flowing despite the 15-day closure of Pump Station 3 for corrosion repairs.




  In that case, the line did not operate at full capacity, and experts say they are unsure if mobile turbines could keep the pipeline going at full speed, particularly if such a unit was placed before a mountain pass.




  Another choke point on the line is the Valdez marine terminal, which houses the pumping systems that push the crude onto tankers bound for the Lower 48.




  Duarte, who mumbled “Oh, my God,” when asked to consider the prospect of an attack on a marine terminal, said he believed the pipeline could be closed for weeks as a result. Other experts said that even if temporary repairs were made, it could take months to replace costly, made-to-order equipment that would allow the pipeline to function at normal capacity.




  For example, to keep crude flowing normally, Alyeska uses two or three of its four tanker berths at a time. Destruction of more than one berth, experts say, could well slow down shipments.




  […]




  





  Bingham looked up with a funny smile and turned to his friend.




  “Why the shit-eatin’ grin?” Koho asked.




  “Look at this.” Bingham slid the newspaper in front of Koho.




  It took Koho a few minutes to get through the article. He leaned back and said, “So?”




  “Don’t you see what this is?” Bingham whispered. “It’s a blueprint for creating an epic environmental disaster. Done right, ripping a hole at the right place in the pipeline could make Joe Hazelwood and the Exxon Valdez look like spit in a thunderstorm. Alaska will go broke in a couple of weeks without oil flowing through the pipeline. This article tells us how we can make this state scream with pain.”




  “You wanna blow up the pipeline?”




  “Not so loud. We gotta go somewhere and think this through. I’m tired of fucking around with Greenpeace, the comic relief of the environmental movement. This is the perfect way to fuck with Alaska.”




  Koho had met Bingham at the Greenpeace boondoggle. Like all the others involved, he had been fined a total of $250 for the two citations he received. Since he had no place else to go and lacked any hint of ambition, Koho had just sort of hung out with Bingham ever since.




  Bingham tore the article from the paper, folded it, and tucked it into his wallet. He dropped a couple bucks on the table, and the two of them left their seats and walked out into the winter night’s gloom.




  “Let’s go to ‘Koots and sort this out over a few beers,” Bingham said.




   




  Saturday, January 26, 1991




  





  





  Chilkoot Charlies




  Anchorage, Alaska, 1:30 a.m.




  “We don’t know shit,” Koho bellowed over the din of the band, crushing another cigarette into an overflowing ashtray. “All we got are questions.”




  In the dark, smoky atmosphere of an iconic Alaskan bar, Bingham scribbled on yet another cocktail napkin, a forgotten cigarette slowly turning to ash near his elbow. Most of his jottings were questions about what they didn’t know, which was a lot. Occasionally he noted a guess or a suspicion.




  “That’s how we figure out what to do,” Bingham yelled back. “We knock out these questions one at a time and when we’re done we’ve blown up the pipeline.




  “First we gotta figure out the target. Do we wanna hit a pump station or a bridge or some remote spot on the line? If so, where or which one? We’re only gonna get one shot at this.”




  “Almost the whole pipeline is close to a road, according to the newspaper,” Koho hollered. “The key question is how to get around security. I’ve never been to a pump station or anything else along the pipeline…and neither have you. We don’t have a clue about who’s watching what from where.”




  “The other key to target selection is where we can cause the biggest ruckus. Along with that, where will it be easiest to pull this off, easiest to get away, and hardest for the state to clean up the mess. Even the time of year might be a factor.”




  “Time of year?”




  “Simple…is it harder to clean up an oil spill in winter or summer? That question is somewhere in this pile of napkins. We want the hardest cleanup.”




  “So what’s next?”




  “Right now, we need a map,” Bingham said. “And then we’re probably gonna need to go on a road trip. Christ…an Alaska road trip in January. We’ll freeze our asses off.”




  “I know the pipeline runs from Prudhoe Bay to Fairbanks, then on to Valdez. But where in the hell are the pump stations and how many rivers does it cross?”




  “I can guess where the Yukon River Bridge is north of Fairbanks, but which pump stations are the ones that push the oil over mountain ranges? Those are the ones this article says may not be replaceable with their mobile pump stations. We need a map that shows the roads, the mountains, and the rivers. Be nice, too, if it showed the pump stations.




  “Step one, then… find a map. Step two…get ready to freeze your ass off.”




  “Okay. We get a map and do a road trip to pick a target,” Koho said. “Then what?”




  “Oh…lots of minor details like stealing dynamite and whatever else needed to make it go boom. We can’t exactly waltz into a store and buy that shit.




  “That may not be as difficult as it sounds, though. Plenty of road projects in the summer use explosives; so do mines, and there’s lots of them in Alaska in pretty remote locations, places not likely to have much security.”




  “Who’s gonna set it off? We don’t know crap about dynamite.”




  “Gotta think about that some,” Bingham said. “There are people around with those skills. We just have to find one who is pissed off about something.




  “Let’s get out of here and get some sleep. Crowd’s starting to thin out which means we might be overheard.” Bingham stuffed the napkins with his notes into his jacket pocket as they left.




  The couple at the next table rose to leave seconds later. Charlie Tennant had picked up the best looking woman in the bar and she’d just asked him to take her home. He knew he’d probably had too much to drink, but figured he could get away with the short drive to her Fairview neighborhood.




  Words he’d overhead from the next table were also swirling through his head. He’d only heard snatches of conversation above the uproar of the band, but these included words like dynamite and pipeline and Exxon Valdez and oil spill. What kind of talk was that in Alaska’s sleaziest bar, he wondered.




  And those two guys were so damned serious. No grab-assing with the waitresses or trying to hit on one of the single women in the bar. Something wasn’t right, but that wasn’t his concern. With a hot chick on his arm, the night was full of promise.




  That promise ended minutes later when he turned east on 6th Avenue headed for Fairview. Flashing red-and-blue lights in Tennant’s rearview mirror signaled trouble.




  “Sir, may I see your driver’s license and registration, please?” Anchorage Police Officer Fred Whitney said in a polite, but commanding voice. “Do you know why I pulled you over?”




  “No sir. I thought I was fine.” Tennant handed over the documents after a few moments pawing through his glove compartment.




  “You failed to signal a lane change after you turned onto 6th Avenue. Have you had any alcoholic beverages this evening?”




  “Not enough to make me drunk.”




  Officer Whitney took the license and registration back to his car and called in the pertinent information. Moments later the dispatcher replied that Tennant had no priors and wasn’t being sought by any legal jurisdiction. Just a couple of traffic citations years ago.




  Walking back to the driver’s door of Tennant’s car, officer Whitney said, “Please step out of the car and stand in the headlights.”




  Tennant silently complied.




  “Stand with your heels together, close your eyes, and extend your arms straight out and parallel to the ground. Bending your left arm at the elbow, reach in and touch your nose, all the while keeping your eyes closed.”




  Tennant’s index finger hit his cheek an inch from his nose and he quickly jerked it to his nose. Doing so caused a momentary loss of balance, and he blinked his eyes open as he stumbled back to equilibrium.




  “Stand on the curb facing down the street with one foot in front of the other. Lock your hands behind your head and walk down the curb placing one foot in front of the other, the heel of the front foot touching the toe of the rear foot.”




  Tennant fell off the curb on the third step, staggered, but remained upright.




  “I am arresting you under suspicion of driving under the influence of an alcoholic beverage or other intoxicating substance. Please turn around and put your hands behind your back.




  “You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can and will be used against you in a court of law. You have the right to speak to an attorney, and to have an attorney present during any questioning. If you cannot afford a lawyer, one will be provided for you. Do you understand these rights?”




  Tennant nodded.




  By the time Officer Whitney finished reciting the Miranda Warning from memory, he had snapped handcuffs around Tennant’s wrists. Whitney escorted Tennant to the cruiser, carefully placed him in the backseat, and fastened a seat belt around him. Then, walking back to Tennant’s car, he asked the woman for identification and about her relationship to Tennant.




  “I just met him at Chilkoot Charlies,” she said. “He was taking me home.”




  “Can I call you a cab?” Whitney said.




  “No, sir. There’s the city bus station up ahead. A bus is lots cheaper.”




  She gathered her purse, pulled her jacket snugly about her, stepped out of the car, and headed up the street.




  Tennant watched her swaying hips fade into the night and audibly moaned, “Aw shit.”




  





  





  





  6th Avenue Police Station




  Anchorage, Alaska, 3:10 a.m.




  Tennant failed his Breathalyzer test, blowing 0.14. Officer Whitney sat him in an eight-foot-by-eight-foot interrogation room, took a seat across the table, and switched on a tape recorder between them.




  “Just so there is no question about my handling of this matter or of anything you might say, I am recording this interview.” He then gave his name and badge number, Tennant’s name, driver’s license number, the date and time, and a case number.




  “I am going to read an expanded version of the Miranda Warning and then ask you to sign a statement verifying that your rights have been explained to you.




  “You have the right to remain silent and refuse to answer questions. Do you understand?”




  “Yeah.”




  Whitney went through the Miranda warning phrase by phrase, stopping at the end of each segment to ask Tennant if he understood. Tennant uttered a guttural “Yeah,” to each query until Whitney got to the last question.




  “Knowing and understanding your rights as I have explained them to you, are you willing to answer my questions without an attorney present?”




  “Maybe. I’ll at least listen to your questions before I decide whether or not to talk.”




  “Please sign this form that says that I have read you your rights and that you understand those rights.”




  Tennant signed the form without reading it.




  “How much did you have to drink tonight?”




  “I don’t know; I wasn’t keeping score.”




  “Did you pay with cash or with a credit card?”




  “Cash.”




  “Did your date pay for any drinks?”




  “She wasn’t my date. I picked her up. I guess she bought at least one because she was working on a drink when I started talking her up.”




  “Did she pay for it with a credit card or with cash?”




  “I don’t know….wait, it must have been a credit card. The waitress brought her a bill to sign after I started buying her drinks.”




  “Do you have anything to tell me that might mitigate the charge against you?




  “What do you mean by mitigate?”




  “Can you tell me anything that might help you?”




  Tennant thought a moment and then blurted out, “I heard some really weird shit tonight.”




  “What does ‘really weird shit’ mean?”




  “These two guys at the table next to us kept using words like dynamite, oil spill, pipeline, and Exxon Valdez. One of them kept writing on napkins. They didn’t look like they were having any fun.”




  “How’s that supposed to help you?”




  “Maybe if you thought they were dangerous, you’d forget about me.”




  “Sorry. You’re headed for a holding cell. You’ll see a judge in the morning. Then I suggest you find a lawyer or ask the judge to appoint one for you.”




  





  





  6th Avenue Police Station




  Anchorage, Alaska, 8:05 a.m.




  Ending his shift, Officer Whitney couldn’t quite get what Tennant had told him out of his mind. Who, indeed, talks about dynamite, oil spills and pipelines in Chilkoot Charlies on a Friday night? Everybody knows ‘Koots is the best pick-up bar in Anchorage, and the place is pretty raucous for anything resembling a serious conversation.




  What the hell…can’t hurt to run it past the detectives.




  He crossed the hall and entered the duty detective’s office. A friend, Detective Sergeant Rick—short for Ricardo—Gomez, was sifting through the pile of officers’ reports that had come in overnight.




  “Hi, Rick. Had a strange one last night that I thought I’d bounce off of you before heading home.




  “Busted this guy for DUI, and he mentioned two guys at a table in ‘Koots talking about things like dynamite and pipelines and oil spills. I couldn’t make much sense of it and wondered if you had something that might match up.”




  “First I’ve heard about anything like that. But a conversation like that in ‘Koots does sound odd. Any names or descriptions?”




  “I didn’t press for that stuff, he was pretty drunk. He’s in the drunk tank right now waiting for the judge. He’s probably a little hung over but reasonably sober by now.”




  “According to these reports, it was a slow night so my talents aren’t immediately in demand. Maybe I’ll put this guy in a room and sweat him some.”




  “Good luck. His name’s Tennant. See you tomorrow.”




  Gomez picked up his phone, punched a button and told whoever was on the other end that he wanted Tennant in an interrogation room in 30 minutes. At the moment coffee was more important than some hung-over DUI miscreant.




  After downing two cups of coffee, Gomez tucked the DUI case file under his arm and walked to the interrogation room.




  Tennant looked much the worse for wear. Gone was the suave Casanova from six hours earlier who was headed home with the prettiest girl in the bar. In its place was a man with a sinus headache, an upset stomach, a mouth that tasted like the bottom of a bird cage, an overpowering thirst, and desperately in need of sleep.




  “Are you Charles Tennant?” Gomez asked, switching on the tape recorder.




  “Yeah. What’d I do now?”




  “Nothing that I know of.” Gomez then recited his name, badge number and the date and time into the tape recorder along with Tennant’s name and driver’s license number.




  “I don’t have anything to do with your DUI, but right now I just want to know more of what you heard at ‘Koots.”




  Tennant thought a minute. “Don’t know much ‘cept what I told the cop last night.”




  Gomez read Tennant his rights, again…just in case.




  “Can you describe either one or both of these guys?”




  “A little maybe. I wasn’t paying attention when they stood up to leave, so I don’t know how tall they were.




  “The one writing on the napkins seemed to be in charge. He was probably about 40, dark hair, hair was fairly short and maybe getting a little thin on top. Might be a few pounds overweight.




  “The other guy was really skinny, hair was a little lighter. A few years younger.”




  “What about eye color, beards or anything else?”




  “If I saw their eyes, I don’t remember the color. Skinny guy had sort of a scraggly goatee, like the kind of beard a guy who can’t grow a real beard has. Other guy was clean shaven, though he probably hadn’t shaved in a day or two.”




  “What about the conversation you overheard?”




  “Band drowned out most of it…they seemed to be asking each other questions, like they were trying to sort something out. But words like pipeline and dynamite and oil spill kept coming up. Also, there was something about a road trip.”




  “Would you recognize either of these guys if you saw them again?”




  “Maybe.”




  There was a knock on the door and one of the jailers stuck his head in. “Judge is ready for him and the others from last night, Rick. Gotta take him to court.”




  “Go ahead.” Then, turning to Tennant, “Good luck.”




  Gomez wondered what he was going to do with this snippet of information. He’d been a cop for a long time, and however innocuous, there was no such thing as useless information.




  Gomez assigned a case number to the file and wrote a very short report. It and the tape went into one of the file cabinets in the detective office, less the copy of the report he marked for the shift supervisor and tossed in his outbox. Gomez figured he would never see it again. Seconds later, he learned he couldn’t have been more wrong.




  “And the winner is…” Just as Gomez closed the file drawer the shift supervisor stuck his head in the office door and handed over a memo.




  It said, in part,




   




  With the onset of combat air operations in Iraq, the question of terrorism has arisen on a worldwide basis. It has been determined that the most likely object of a terrorist attack in Alaska is the trans-Alaska oil pipeline.




  To that end, the Commissioner of the Alaska Department of Public Safety is convening a meeting of all interested parties in Anchorage on Monday, January 27, 1991, at a conference room in the Sheraton Hotel on 6th Avenue. Detective Sergeant Gomez will represent APD.




   




  Shit, just what I need—another meeting on a security concern that barely involves Anchorage. The nearest part of the pipeline is 180 miles away in Glennallen.




  Maybe I’ll bring up my two guys in Chilkoot Charlies. Anything to stay awake.




   




  Monday, January 28, 1991




  





  





  Sheraton Hotel




  Anchorage, Alaska, 8 a.m.




  Having been appointed less than two weeks before by recently inaugurated governor Wally Hickel, Alaska Commissioner of Public Safety Richard Burton barely knew where his office was. Now he was about to address a collection of police and security professionals about terrorism in Alaska, a subject few people in the state knew much about.




  The audience was small, a couple of senior Alaska State Troopers, representatives from the Fairbanks and Anchorage police departments, a military police captain from Fort Richardson, an Air Force police captain from Elmendorf AFB, an Anchorage Airport security supervisor, and a handful of private security personnel from Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., including Alyeska’s chief of security. Other than the Valdez Police Department, which did not send a representative, no other agencies had any jurisdiction along the pipeline. And the Anchorage Police Department was represented more as a courtesy than anything else since the meeting was being held in their city.




  “Gentlemen, shall we begin?” Commissioner Burton said.




  “We’ve all seen the news about Desert Shield becoming Desert Storm. For the moment this is a war of aerial bombardment and little else. Be that as it may, there are concerns at the highest levels of the federal government that acts of terrorism may be committed on American soil in response to our planes bombing Iraq.




  “In Alaska, we don’t believe that many attractions for terrorists exist. Other than the Anchorage airport, we don’t have any crowded transportation systems like subways. We do have our military bases, but they are quite well protected by assigned military police. The same holds true for the Anchorage Airport with its security personnel.




  “I’m told that both the military and the airport are stepping up their alert levels, the latter on the assumption that any terrorist coming to Alaska will most likely transit the Anchorage airport. There’s not much I can offer any of those departments other than to note that the Alaska State Troopers will be at their service in an emergency.




  “That brings us to the Alaskan target we believe most likely for terrorists…the pipeline. I don’t think I need to tell anyone here of the particular security problems imposed by a pipeline running the length of Alaska, almost exclusively through remote wilderness.




  “Then we have the Anchorage Daily News on Friday offering a primer on its front page for blowing up the key parts of the pipeline. I’m sure that article was read with no small amount of concern by Alyeska’s security staff.




  “Because we believe the pipeline to be the most likely target in Alaska, I’m going to turn the floor over to Alyeska Security, along with the same pledge I made the military and the airport. Our troopers will be available if you need them.




  “For those who haven’t yet met him, allow me to introduce Dave Marsh, chief of Alyeska Security.”




  “Thank you, Commissioner,” Marsh said, “and congratulations on your new job.”




  “Thanks…I think.”




  “And yes, to say that we were irked by Friday’s Daily News article understates our outrage. We sweat out security on the pipeline every day of the year, and they printed a lot of things that we would prefer not to publicize.




  “On any given day hundreds of people, many if not all of them carrying a firearm, most of them hunters or fishermen, cross the pipeline, park on the pad at designated turnouts, or walk along the right of way. We occasionally find bullet holes in the outer casing of the pipe, which is a thin steel covering containing the insulation that surrounds the actual pipe. So far these bullets have struck at enough of an angle to simply ricochet off the half-inch of tempered steel of the actual pipe. Sooner or later, though, some idiot with a high-powered rifle is going to strike the actual pipe straight on from close range and penetrate it. That will cause a fountain of oil for a short while, but won’t really be that hard to repair or create a huge clean-up problem.




  “Blowing up a bridge or a pump station is a much bigger problem, and the Daily News’ description of these as the most vulnerable parts of the pipeline is right on the mark.




  “We think the pump stations are pretty well guarded, with gates operated by armed guards, and roving patrols of armed guards in pickup trucks constantly on the move along the road system and around the pump stations at all hours. Also, most of the pipeline, except the stretch between Pump 5 and Pump 4, is covered two or more times per day by patrolling helicopters carrying a security guard.




  “The bridges are another matter. There are just too many of them to realistically guard on a round-the-clock basis. And again, as the Daily News said, the Yukon River Crossing is potentially the most dangerous in terms of an oil spill. Both the road and the pipeline share this structure. Blow the bridge and you get ‘em both.




  “Compounding the oil spill problem, blowing the bridge will also stop vehicle traffic on the Haul Road, making it hard to move heavy equipment to sites where it might be needed.




  “In the winter an ice bridge could be constructed without much difficulty; in the summer a cable ferry could be rigged up in a few days. Both were used during Haul Road construction back in the 1970s.




  “But, if the break were to occur during or just before break-up in the spring or freeze-up in the fall, it could be weeks—even months—before we could move equipment and freight across the river.”




  Commissioner Burton broke in to ask about additional security at the Yukon River Crossing.




  “Pump Station 6 is on a hill a mile or so south of the river, which helps, and there are closed circuit TV cameras for the vehicle traffic. However, there is very little surveillance underneath the bridge, and in the summer months there is a constant stream of boat traffic up and down the river. About the best we can do for checking below the bridge deck is walk a security officer along the catwalk underneath the road and have him look over the side or have the helicopter crews fly low across the river to look things over. Locked gates keep the public off the catwalk.




  “Winter is actually a relief for security crews near the bridge because boat traffic on the river ends, though in some years a snow-machine trail develops under the bridge on the frozen river, usually close to the north bank.




  “And you have to remember, there are literally thousands of stream and river crossings, some large and some small, between Prudhoe Bay and Valdez.”




  Detective Gomez raised his hand. “What can we do in Anchorage? We’re a long way from the pipeline.”




  “We think that anyone coming to Alaska to attack the pipeline will likely pass through Anchorage at some point,” Marsh replied. “We want you to keep your ears to the ground and see if anything turns up. Think in terms of gathering intelligence.”




  “Well, I do have a report of two guys in a bar Friday night having an intense conversation that included words like pipeline, dynamite and oil spill. Don’t have much of a description though.”




  “That’s the kind of thing we want you to track.”




  “I did give it a case number, though I’m not sure why. I’ll let everybody else know to keep their ears open.”




  “I would also point out, that the agency that might best help us along the pipeline is only indirectly represented here today. That’s the Fish and Wildlife Protection Division in Commissioner Burton’s Department of Public Safety. These are armed troopers focused on our state’s fish and game laws, and they spend most of their time in the woods. And, as noted, most of our pipeline is in the woods.”




  “Frankly, I never thought of the brown shirts when I asked the blue shirts to attend this meeting,” Commissioner Burton admitted, “but you’re right. If we are going to get a hint of something bad going on in the back country, these are the guys most likely to sniff it out. Regular AST troopers—blue shirts—are usually on the roads or in the villages. FWP troopers—brown shirts—are in the woods when they’re doing their jobs.




  “Not many of them, though, less than a hundred for the entire state, and after you take out management and the crews for the big boats patrolling the salt-water fisheries, I’ve only got maybe 35-40 games wardens on the ground at any one time. But, some of them have airplanes.”




  “With that,” Marsh said, “I’m confident Commissioner Burton will bring FWP into the loop.




  “In closing, I’ll come full circle back to an earlier point about the pipeline. It is so big and so remote that even as we sit here today some terrorist could at this moment be plotting to attack it. He could, in fact, be driving alongside the pipeline right now—with a copy of the Daily News article in his hands—selecting a target.”




  





  





  Glenn Highway




  Glennallen, Alaska, 11:45 a.m.




  “I think we just crossed the pipeline,” Koho said. “At least that’s what this map says.”




  “I didn’t see anything,” Bingham said. “Must be buried along here.”




  “Christ, it’s cold. Must be 30 or 40 below. I haven’t been able to feel my toes since we passed Sheep Mountain.”




  They were riding in Bingham’s pickup truck, an aging, green, two-wheel-drive, manual-shift Chevy. Its sole redeeming feature was that it started most mornings in Anchorage. Then again, Anchorage’s location close to the ocean made it one of the warmer parts of Alaska, relatively speaking. Crossing the Chugach Mountains this morning put them in the Copper River Basin, part of Alaska’s frigid Interior, a region where 40-below-zero temperatures were routine.




  Sheep Mountain, which they passed more than an hour earlier, was sort of the dividing line between the warmer and colder parts of the region. Prior to Sheep Mountain they had driven along a twisting ribbon of asphalt through Chickaloon Pass, one of the world’s most spectacular drives. For 60-plus miles, jagged peaks towered above the road with glaciers flowing down many of the valleys between the mountains.




  Once past Sheep Mountain the road wound through a number of swampy areas—frozen at this time of the year—and boreal forests of spindly black spruce trees unable to gain sufficient purchase in the bogs and underlying permafrost to grow very tall.




  “Where’d you get this map, anyway?” Koho asked.




  “I went into Title Wave Books on 5th Avenue and asked for a map with the roads, mountains, and pipeline. The clerk steered me to last year’s edition of The Milepost®, on sale for just a couple bucks because the 1991 issue is due out any day now. This map tears out of the book.”




  “Lookin’ at this map, we’re comin’ to a road junction. We can turn right and follow the pipeline to Valdez, or turn left and follow it to Fairbanks. Pipe is pretty close to the road for the whole way between those two towns.”




  “First we need gas,” Bingham said. “We’ll stop at that Tesoro station up ahead.”




  After refueling, Bingham drove the pickup onto the Richardson Highway and turned south toward Valdez.




  “Figure we’ll go to Valdez today. Give us a chance to look at Pump Station 12 and the pipeline terminal. And since it’s next to the ocean it’ll probably be warm enough to sleep in the truck if we stay over.




  “And, if I read that map right, Pump Station 12 pushes the oil over a mountain range, which makes it a high-value target.”




  “Well,” Koho said, “if you want a target around here, please say we’re gonna to do it in the summer. We’ll freeze to death working outside around here this time of year.”




  About an hour later Bingham steered around a curve at the base of a small mountain on the west side of the road and saw a sign, “Pump Station 12.” He stopped next to the sign.




  “Other than a couple of roofs and pipes sticking up above the trees over to the left, I can’t see much,” Koho said. “You gonna drive in?”




  Bingham answered by turning left onto the curving gravel road leading downhill to the pump station gate. As they approached the gate, a security guard in a blue uniform wearing a pistol on his hip stepped out of the guard shack and waved them to a stop.




  “I figured this. Behave yourself,” Bingham said as he reached to roll down the window.




  The window was frozen, so he opened the door.




  “Stay in the vehicle,” ordered the guard. “What do you want?”




  “We’ve never seen a pump station,” Bingham said, “and since we were driving by we thought we might stop and take a look.”




  “This is private property. Please turn around and leave.”




  “Yes, sir.”




  Bingham backed into a plowed-out space in front of the guard station as the guard reentered the shack. Inside, he lifted a clipboard with his daily log sheet, picked up a pencil and looked out the window to take down the vehicle license number. A buildup of snow around the trailer hitch ball on the bumper blocked the middle two numbers of the plate. All he came up with were two numbers 59, followed by the two hidden numbers, and then the letters CT. On his log sheet he wrote: “Green Chevrolet P/U late 70s? Std AK P/U license, 4 numbers followed by 2 letters: 59__ CT, unable to read middle digits due to snow.”




  Back on the highway, Bingham turned toward Valdez.




  





  





  Thompson Pass




  Richardson Highway, Alaska, 2:30 p.m.




  Koho jerked awake as Bingham slowed at the top of Thompson Pass. “Look at all that fuckin’ snow,” he muttered as his eyes focused. “Is this a whiteout?”




  Packed snow on both sides of the highway towered more than eight feet above the road surface. Heavy snow swirled from a gloomy sky just barely darker that the roadside snow.




  “Where’s the pipeline?” Koho asked.




  “Somewhere over on the right,” Bingham replied, “but I can’t see shit. This is like driving in a tunnel.”




  The ride down the south side of the pass became an indelible memory. In a few miles driving across the face of a cliff they descended from nearly 3,000 feet elevation to just a few feet above sea level. The steep descent twisted and turned as the road clung to the cliff and wound through notches cut into the terrain by wind and water. It was a white-knuckle ride in a blinding snowstorm.




  Daylight began fading as Bingham drove through Keystone Canyon, then across flat ground for the last few miles into town. It took a couple of minutes to find the shoreline and realize that the pipeline terminal was on the other side of Valdez Bay.




  “Let’s figure out how to get there before it gets totally dark,” Bingham said.




  Backtracking out of town, they found a sign, “Alyeska Pipeline Terminal,” pointing to the right. Bingham turned off the highway, drove across a couple of river bridges and shortly came out along the south shore of the bay.




  A couple miles further on another sign warned that public access was restricted 1,500 feet ahead. Looming out of the gathering darkness stood a lighted guard shack and behind it a blaze of lights penetrated the early evening gloom, creating a false daylight on the side of a steeply sloped hillside. Visible were massive storage tanks, a maze of pipes and a few buildings of varying sizes. On the water, a tugboat nuzzled up to a huge tanker, pushing it towards one of four oil-loading berths.




  The guard that stopped them wore the same uniform as the guard at Pump Station 12.




  “This is private property, you need to turn around.”




  Bingham smiled and waved through the still-frozen window, backed the pickup around using a plowed turnout, and drove off into the night.




  This guard didn’t log the contact. This happened all the time at the terminal.




  Back in Valdez, Bingham parked in front of Mike’s Palace, a pizza restaurant overlooking the small-boat harbor.




  “Come on,” he said. “I’ve got enough for pizza, but probably not enough for beer. Go easy.”




  Inside they settled on a large sausage pizza and ice water.




  “You’re right,” Bingham said. “This ain’t gonna work. I’ve already seen enough to scare me off.”




  “At least it’s not 40 below outside,” Koho said. “Much easier to work in these temperatures. What are we gonna do now, ol’ buddy?”




  “It’s about 4 o’clock. I think we should drive back to Anchorage. I don’t want anything to do with driving to Fairbanks as cold as it is in the Interior. Otherwise we sleep in the truck.”




  “How long to get back?”




  “Stopping for gas in Glennallen, maybe seven hours. About 300 miles, I think.”




  





  





  Apartment 1, Spenard Arms Apartments




  Anchorage, Alaska, 11:30 p.m.




  Bingham slid his key into the deadbolt lock in the door of apartment 1. Besides the number, his door also had the letters MGR. The last letter hung upside down by a single screw in the tail of the R. Bingham got to live here free for showing empty apartments and collecting the rent. Koho slept in the apartment’s second bedroom, barely bigger than a closet. The ultimate sidekick, his contribution to their living arrangements was as a sounding board whenever Bingham wanted to talk, which was often, and buying some food and beer with the welfare money and food stamps he received.




  Stepping inside, Bingham switched on a light and unfolded a note he’d found stuck in the door.




  “George,” it read, “I’m late with the rent again. I’ll see you when I get up tomorrow. V.”




  Not the first time I’ve seen that note. He smiled at the thought of her coming in.




  “Who’s writing notes?” Koho said.




  “Velda, the whore in number 8. She’s apparently spent all her rent money on crack and will come by to plead for more time.”




  “Does that mean…”




  “Yeah, we’ll probably get freebies tomorrow afternoon as her way of making up for being late. You get sloppy seconds.”




   




  Tuesday, January 29, 1991




  





  





  Commissioner’s Office, Alaska Department of Public Safety




  Anchorage, Alaska, 10:40 a.m.




  





  M-E-M-O




  TO: Director, FWP; Commanders C and I Detachments, FWP




  CC: Director AST; Commanders B and E Detachments, AST




  FROM: Commissioner




  DATE: January 29, 1991




  RE: Possible Terrorism Threat to Trans-Alaska Pipeline




  

    	In Alaska, the trans-Alaska Pipeline running from Prudhoe Bay on Alaska’s North Slope to tidewater at Valdez is presumed the most likely potential target of any terrorist attack.




    	FWP Troopers patrolling in the vicinity of the trans-Alaska Pipeline are hereby directed to pay particular attention to any and all activity along the pipeline itself, the Dalton Highway (aka the Haul Road) and the Richardson Highway from Valdez to Fairbanks.




    	I Detachment is hereby directed to reopen the Dalton Highway post at Coldfoot NLT April 1 of this year. Until funding for full-time staffing can be arranged and bids from FWP Troopers interested in serving at Coldfoot can be solicited and evaluated to determine a permanent assignment, I Detachment will provide, on a rotating basis, TDY, single-officer staffing for this post beginning NLT April 1. FWP Troopers assigned to this duty must be very experienced because the remote nature of the post prevents rapid backup in the event of an emergency. Funds for reopening the house and activating the communications equipment to make it fully operational will be made available from the Commissioner’s contingency fund.




    	Equipment for the Coldfoot posting will include, as a minimum, a four-wheel-drive vehicle, a boat capable of operating on lakes and streams between and including the Yukon River and the Sagavanirktok River, a four-wheeler, and a snow machine. Until such time as funding for new equipment can be obtained, I Detachment will provide these required items from its existing equipment pool.




    	I Detachment will also designate one FWP Trooper weekly whose entire assignment will be a roving patrol along the Elliott and Dalton highways leading north from Fairbanks to Prudhoe Bay. This FWP Trooper will utilize his training, experience, and knowledge of the region to determine where and how to maximize his effectiveness along the 450-plus mile stretch of highway and pipeline. Weekly and monthly reports will reflect only total number of contacts with the notation that the additional data is on file.




    	All FWP Troopers patrolling in the vicinity of the trans-Alaska Pipeline will be briefed on the contents of this memorandum. They are encouraged to meet with their AST counterparts to coordinate patrols with existing Trooper crime prevention patrols on the Richardson Highway. It is understood that there are at present no routine AST anti-crime patrols on the Dalton Highway. The I Detachment FWP Commander will confer with his AST counterpart at E Detachment to review this situation and determine the feasibility of increasing the State Trooper crime prevention patrols along the Dalton Highway.




    	C Detachment Commander will designate FWP Troopers in Valdez to coordinate with B Detachment AST Troopers patrolling the Richardson Highway from Valdez north to Delta Junction. Other than the two FWP troopers at Valdez and one at Glennallen, it is recognized that there are no other FWP Troopers stationed along the Richardson Highway between Valdez and Delta Junction.




    	Until further notice, monthly activity reports from the four detachments named in the address section of this memorandum shall specifically report efforts at compliance with these instructions.


  




  Richard Burton, Commissioner




  Alaska Department of Public Safety




  





  





  Apartment 1, Spenard Arms Apartments




  Anchorage, Alaska, 3:15 p.m.




  Velda crashed into Bingham’s apartment without knocking.




  “Hi Velda,” Bingham said. “Thanks for knocking. You might have caught me naked coming out of the shower.”




  Velda stuck out her tongue. “That would save us some time.




  “As usual,” she said, sighing and rolling her eyes, “I don’t have the rent money. Last night was Monday, the slowest day of the week, and all I could find was some guy who wanted a $10 blowjob. I think I’ll have enough by the weekend, though.”




  “By the weekend, you’ll owe me two months’ rent. This is January’s rent I’m still tryin’ to collect. And if you’re givin’ away blowjobs for 10 bucks, you’re never gonna come up with the rent money.”




  “You mean it’s almost February, already? And, hey, things were really slow last night.”




  “Yeah, and that means I’ll need twice as much interest today. Some for me and some for Del here.”




  “Who first?” Velda asked, sighing again as she unzipped her jeans. Then, “Make sure you’re wearin’ rubbers,” as she took off her shirt.




  “God, you’re nothing but a bag of bones,” Bingham said after Velda removed her underwear. “Aren’t you eating?”




  “Not much. Do you want it or not?”




  “Oh, yeah, I’ll take it, and then watch you do Del.”




  “What are you guys doing these days?” Velda asked, feigning interest like she did with any client, while maneuvering into position on the sofa under Bingham.




  “Oh, little things like blowing up pipelines,” Koho said, giggling.




  “Yeah, right.”




  Bingham glared over Velda’s head at Koho, shutting him up.




  Velda finished off both men in less than 20 minutes. She pulled on her clothes and left.




  As the door clicked shut, Bingham started yelling. “You fucking dumb shit. What do you mean telling her we’re blowing up pipelines?”




  “Don’t matter none. Velda’s the closest thing Anchorage has to a two-bit crack whore. Even if she’s sitting on the roof yelling our names and talking about blowing up the pipeline, nobody would pay attention.”




  “Maybe not, but we don’t take chances.”




  Outside the apartment door, Velda hesitated until the yelling died down, then walked away. She was upset hearing herself described as a two-bit crack whore, though the crack whore part of the description was apt enough. For now, though she had to hurry. Her supplier was getting out of his car in front of her apartment. He might slap her around some, but she really needed a couple hits of crack—one right away and one for later tonight when the cold started getting to her. Night was approaching and she had to be out on the street seeking men who would pay to rent a very small part of her body for a very short time.




  





  





  Club Paris




  Anchorage, Alaska, 5:15 p.m.




  “Well, Rick, with a war up and running in Kuwait,” Detective Dick Mitchell said, “don’t you wish you were still flying helicopters in the Army?”




  “Hell no,” Gomez said, signaling the bar tender for a second round.




  “Why’d you get out? Seems to me flying helicopters is a pretty good job.”




  “Wasn’t my idea. I was RIFed, which means reduction in force. They showed me the door in 1973 when I was up at Fort Wainwright near Fairbanks. Handed me 15,000 bucks, patted me on the ass, and said we don’t need you anymore. I came to Anchorage and less than a month later found myself in the police academy. Comin’ up on 18 years of service. Two more years and I retire to someplace warm.”




  “Do you know anybody who’s flying in the Middle East right now?”




  “Probably. Still have a couple of old Army buddies flying in Fairbanks. One’s flying helicopters on the pipeline and the other’s a game warden. Haven’t talked to them in years, though.”




  “According to your memo, those are the guys that are going to save the pipeline, at least if we can believe the commissioner and the pipeline security boss. Might want to reopen communications with them.”




  “Are you giving me shit or trying to help?”




  “Probably a little of both. Flip you for the bill.”




  Gomez lost the toss, dropped a $20 bill on the bar to cover the cost of the beer and a tip, and they headed out the door to 5th Avenue. Their unmarked city police cars were still parked at the police station several blocks away to avoid any suggestion of using city property for personal reasons. They walked in silence as a light snow drifted down between the city’s high rises. Being cops, their eyes never stopped moving as they looked over every person they passed and into every alley leading into darkness.




   




  Friday, February 8, 1991




  





  





  Headquarters I Detachment FWP/E Detachment AST




  Peger Road, Fairbanks, Alaska, 8:15 a.m.




  Lieutenant Terry Shields, Commander, I Detachment, Fish and Wildlife Protection, had been mentally wrestling with the commissioner’s pipeline memo for more than a week. No matter how he looked at it, his patrols in a part of Alaska larger than Texas were going to suffer.




  His biggest problem was personnel, or more properly the lack of personnel. Lieutenant Shields had a first sergeant and a sergeant in Fairbanks along with five patrol officers. He had one other officer on the road system in Delta Junction, which was along the pipeline route. Another was assigned remotely to Galena with an airplane, one in Nenana about an hour’s drive southwest of town and two in Nome, some four hundred miles away and only accessible by scheduled service on Alaska Airlines. Like the Nome troopers, the Galena officer was too far away to be of assistance. It would take him nearly two hours flying in his Super Cub just to reach the nearest point on the pipeline—or the nearest road—from his posting.




  Thus both the TDY Coldfoot officer and the roving patrol officer would have to come from the five officers in Fairbanks plus the one in Nenana.




  Equipment posed a separate set of problems. Only two of the five Fairbanks patrol officers and the Nenana officer had four-wheel-drive vehicles. This meant a constant rotation of vehicles as officers moved from duty along the Dalton Highway back to the Fairbanks office as their rotations at Coldfoot or roving along the Haul Road were over. Then there was the boat…




  In its modest fleet, I Detachment had one GatorJet, a powerful, aging, flat-bottomed jet boat of dubious functionality. And nothing but a jet boat such as this would meet the commissioner’s requirements. Putting it in Coldfoot come spring meant that Shields’ ability to patrol the local commercial fishery on the Tanana River and the larger one farther north on the Yukon River would be severely restricted.




  In short, Shields had more tasks than assets. His call to the FWP director’s office went nowhere. Money was tight, he was told, and this is the way it had to be.




  His AST counterpart, the E Detachment Commander, was no help, either. At Shields’ suggestion to increase the frequency of Dalton Highway patrols, Captain Fred Calhoun snorted and said, “Impossible. We run a trooper to Prudhoe Bay once a month, and that’s all we’re gonna do unless I get orders to the contrary. The Commissioner’s suggestions do not count as orders.”




  Shields buzzed his secretary. “Ask First Sergeant Black and Sergeant Turlock to come in, please.”




  Both men arrived within a minute and took seats in front of Shields’s desk.




  “Here is the word from on high,” Lieutenant Shields began, “and you’re not going to like it.




  “The head shed has determined that the pipeline is in possible danger of a terrorist attack and has charged FWP with protecting it. And all of us know that the route from Prudhoe Bay to somewhere south of Delta Junction, something like 550 miles of the 800 total miles of pipeline, falls in our area.




  “The Commissioner has determined that we will dedicate two full-time FWP troopers to protecting the pipeline. The first will be an officer TDY on a rotating basis—I’m thinking two-week shifts—living in the Coldfoot house just off the Haul Road on the south side of the Brooks Range. We will have to keep this up indefinitely until funding can be obtained for a full-time position in Coldfoot and bids can be solicited statewide from interested troopers. In other words, this TDY requirement will probably go on for the best part of a year; certainly through this spring and summer.




  “Next, we must provide another patrol officer who will spend his days driving up and down the length of the pipeline north of Fairbanks at his discretion. We will probably be able to arrange for him to sleep and eat at the various pump stations, Pump 6, Pump 5, and Pump 4 being the most likely for bed space, with meals available at any of the stations along the route.”




  “Are you shitting me?” Sergeant Dick Turlock said. “I’ve already got more jobs than people.”




  “It ain’t no shit, Sergeant,” said a slightly annoyed Lieutenant Shields. “Here’s the memo from the Commissioner, which won’t count for anything when we have to answer for why we didn’t do our normal jobs on the fisheries this summer and the hunting seasons next fall.




  “I’ve tried to get this thing modified or at least get some help from other detachments, but the only response I get is ‘your problem, not mine.’”




  First Sergeant Andy Black, the ultimate bureaucrat, looked up and said, “There might be a bright side to this.”




  “I wish somebody would point out the bright spot in this fucking mess.”




  “We desperately need more boats and four-wheel drive vehicles. This may give us the ammunition in front of the legislature to get that equipment. I admit none of this will help immediately, but it could be a big plus down the road.




  “Also, there are five FWP recruits at the Trooper Academy in progress right now in Sitka. This should up our odds of getting at least one of those assigned here, maybe even two of them when they graduate in April.”




  “None of that solves the immediate problem, though,” Shields said. “And the Public Safety Budget won’t even be discussed by the legislature until next month. Even if they agree to the funds, they won’t pass a budget for FY 1992 until the last minute on the last day of the session at the end of May. And we can’t spend that money until July 1.




  “But, yes,” Shields continued, shaking his head, “amend our budget request and strongly emphasize the change in needed personnel and equipment due to the increased patrol requirements imposed by the terrorism threat. Since the Commissioner’s hot on this, we should at least get it past the FWP Director. Then it’s up to the Commissioner to sell it to the legislature.




  “Comments, gentlemen? Dick, you’re still upset.”




  “Yes sir,” Turlock said. “Just doing the math…how’s our overtime budget?”




  “Not great,” Black said. “However, reading between the lines, I think we can get more. At some point the Commissioner’s office has to give us something after dumping this crap on us, and he doesn’t need the legislature’s approval to give us some extra overtime money. Just make sure any overtime your guys get is chargeable to this anti-terrorism thing.”




  “Dick,” Shields said, “isn’t Wednesday the only day that all five of your Fairbanks people are on duty at the same time?”




  “Yes, sir.”




  “Ok, convene a meeting of all Fairbanks officers for 10 a.m. Wednesday morning, and have Delta and Nenana drive in, too, because they’re going to be part of this. I’ll give an overview brief and then you can lay out the gory details of who is going where when. This operation begins April 1. That’s seven weeks away.




  “Andy, besides the budget, coordinate with Alyeska for room and board at the pump stations, obtain detailed information about all pipeline access points and, with luck, perhaps get a master key or two for the various gates to let our guys in and out. Any further questions?”




  “No, sir.”




  “No, sir.”




   




  Monday, February 11, 1991




  





  





  Government Hill Subdivision




  Anchorage, Alaska, 6:45 a.m.




  Thirteen-year-old Summer Henderson gritted her teeth, idly stirred her bowl of softening Cocoa Puffs, and thought, This is the day.




  Summer planned to run away. Last night’s fight with her mother had been the last straw. Her mother refused to recognize that Summer had good reason to be scared of her stepfather.




  She tried to have a conversation about what was bothering her…namely that her stepfather couldn’t keep his hands to himself, touching her chest or her butt whenever he thought no one was looking. This had been going on for almost a year, ever since Mom brought home her first bra. Her body was changing, her mother said then.




  Summer knew that without being told. Her chest was swelling under her shirt, and sometimes her growing boobies hurt. And she started getting her period a few months after Mom brought home the bra.




  The worst part was that her stepfather seemed to enjoy the changes in her body. He was always brushing by her in the hall, laughing softly under his breath when her breasts fleetingly grazed his arm. His hands lingered on her butt when he hugged her, patting her suggestively.




  And before he left for his shift in the North Slope oil fields two weeks ago, he told her how much he was looking forward to seeing her when he got back. That would be today when she got home from school, two hours before her mother came home from work.




  Summer tried talking to her Mom about it again last night. Summer knew that those few hours in the house with him would be more than she could take.




  It was like talking to a wall.




  “You’re imagining things,” her mother said in a calm voice, airily waving her hands.




  Summer stared at her in disbelief. It had taken all the courage she could muster to talk to her mother, and her mother had brushed off her concerns. Tears silently rolled down her cheeks.




  Her mother got angry at that point, and tried to tell her that as a teenager, she was going to see a lot of changes in herself and that maybe she thought the people around her were changing, too. That’s when the screaming started. It lasted for several minutes.




  In a state of shock that the conversation she’d been trying to have with her mother went so bad so quickly, Summer gave up, ran blindly back into her bedroom, and slammed the door.




  At that moment she decided she had to leave.




  Later that night, giving up all pretense of trying to sleep, Summer rolled out of bed and began selecting clothes and other items for her backpack. And now, staring into her cereal bowl, she was determined to act.




  Summer’s problem obviously revolved around sex, and she sometimes fantasized that she could shout, “No,” over and over at the top of her lungs when her stepfather came on to her. She imagined her mother throwing her stepfather out, tossing his clothes after him into the snow.




  The reality, Summer realized, was that her mother didn’t believe her.




  All these thoughts were spinning around in her head when her mother walked into the kitchen fastening an earring.




  “Hurry up, Honey. You’ve got to finish getting dressed, look over your homework, and catch the school bus. As slow as you are, you’ll be lucky to make it.”




  Summer stared at her mother. It was as if last night’s conversation had never happened. Her mother broke eye contact first, turning away, still fumbling with the earring.




  Summer, rolling her eyes, said, “Yes, Mom, I’ll be on time.” It was simpler to agree than to argue. Her mother would be gone in a few minutes.




  The bus she planned to catch, however, was the People Mover Express to downtown Anchorage. Her backpack bulged with clothing and other items she’d packed during the night.




  Summer originally planned to run away when she had saved $100. She only had a little more than half that now, mostly in small bills, but knew she had to get out. The thought of being alone in the house with her stepfather this afternoon frightened her beyond reason.




  Summer’s Mom left for work as a civilian employee on Elmendorf Air Force Base a few minutes after 7 a.m. Summer was supposed to catch the school bus in front of the house about 30 minutes later. It left without her.




  She went to her room, checked her backpack for at least the 20th time and dragged it downstairs. It was heavy, mostly with clothing—some underwear and socks, a clean pair of jeans, two shirts—and her toiletries. She recently got her sandy-colored hair cut really short so she could do without a hair dryer, which was good because there wasn’t room for it in the backpack.




  Downstairs she looked out at the street through the living-room window. She decided to wait until full daylight at about 9 a.m. before heading to the bus stop. She checked her purse one more time to make sure her money was still there and sat down to wait.




  And while she waited she was thinking. And the more that she thought about her mother, her stepfather, and the fact that no one seemed to pay attention to her, the madder she got. When she climbed the steps into the People Mover bus shortly after 9 a.m., she felt like the world had been lifted from her shoulders. From now on she would make her own decisions.




  





  





  Apartment 1, Spenard Arms Apartments




  Anchorage, Alaska, 1:30 p.m.




  Bingham answered the knock at his door and looked down at a short, lean, muscular guy in his late twenties who was already going bald.




  “I’m Phil Dunham. Our mutual friend the probation officer said you might have a place for me to live.” He stuck out his right hand.




  Bingham ignored the offered hand and said, “Come in and let’s talk a little. What did you do to wind up in the clutches of my favorite probation officer?”




  “Got sent to jail for banging a 14-year-old…I mean having loving, consensual, intimate relations with the young woman I planned to marry, in the words of my incompetent lawyer. Did two years in prison and got out this morning from three months in a halfway house. Now I’m on probation for five years.”




  “You got a job?”




  “Nope.”




  “How you gonna pay the rent?”




  “Right now I got about 500 bucks, which I hope is enough for the deposit and the first month’s rent. As far as down the road goes, the probation guy told me you were cheap enough that I could afford to live here on welfare. He said it takes about a week or two for the welfare checks to start showing up. I applied last week.”




  “Rent’s $225 a month. We pay for heat, water, and sewer. You pay the electric. Most units are using $45-$50 in electricity every month. Need first and last month’s rent to make a deal—$450. There’s a couple of coin-operated washers and driers in the utility room at the end of the building. Seventy-five cents to wash and 50 cents to dry.”




  Dunham pulled a wad of bills from a pocket and counted out $450 in tens and twenties. When he finished, there were only a couple of bills left.




  “Have to put you in number 7; it’s the only one vacant. Gets a little noisy in there sometimes. Girl in number 8 works nights and brings ‘em home at all hours. If she’s not flying too high on crack, she puts on a pretty good show with lots of fake moaning and that sort of thing.”




  “Can’t be any worse than sleeping in an Army barracks.”




  “You in the Army?”




  “I was before I went to jail. After I got convicted, Army threw me out on my ass.”




  “What did you do in the Army?”




  “I was an explosives ordnance demolition technician.”




  Bingham’s eyebrows shot up. “What, precisely, does an explosives ordnance demolition technician do?”




  “Officers would point to things and I would blow them up.”




  “What do you do with a skill like that in civilian life?”




  “Well, I could do things like rig the dynamite for road construction projects or for mining or even for bringing down buildings. But, felons are not generally allowed to play with explosives, so I don’t have a fucking clue right now what I’m gonna do.”




  “Don’t give up. There might be opportunities out there for your skills, opportunities that don’t necessarily require credentials being checked. After all, this is the Last Frontier.




  “Just out of curiosity, what’s the difference between blowing up a bridge and blowing up a building?”




  “Why? You got something in mind?”




  “Not really. Just making conversation. Most people, me included, don’t know shit about explosives.”




  “To answer your question, bridges are usually pretty easy to take down, and they don’t generally require much in the way of explosive power. Essentially, bridges are built out of a series of interlocking pieces. Knock out one of the pieces and then the weight of the bridge brings itself down.




  “A building is another matter entirely with a lot of factors involved from the type of materials used in construction to how tall it is.”




  “I think I’m going to like having you around. New subjects for bull sessions are always appreciated on long winter nights. You got any stuff you need help carrying into your new home?”




  “Nope. All I got are a couple of duffel bags.”




  “Where’d you get the car?”




  “At about 9:30 this morning I handed a guy at a used car dealership $499 for that beauty outside. It started when he turned the key, which was good enough for me. That car and what I just gave you pretty much wipes out my final pay from the Army.”




  “Maybe I can help a little.” Bingham counted out $75 from the money Dunham had given him and handed it back. “Month’s one-third over, so technically for February you only own me for two-thirds of a month. It’s not exactly what the contract says, but this puts you in line with all the others paying the whole month’s rent on the first.”




  “Hey, I appreciate that. I was getting nervous about eating for the next week or so. What about furniture in this apartment next to the whorehouse?”




  “There’s some furniture in number 7 already—a bed, a table with a couple of chairs, and a sofa, all pretty beat up.




  “If you need food, there’s a grocery store over on Minnesota Avenue.”




  “I saw that on the way down here. I’m sure I’ll get there later today as I now have enough money for at least a modest grocery run.”




  “Here’s the key. Go unpack your bags. My roommate and I will have something simple for supper about 6 or so. Maybe a couple of beers, too. Join us if you like.




  “You’ll also need to fill out a form as a renter. I’ll dig one up and you can fill it out while you’re here this evening—or come over tomorrow if you don’t show up tonight.”




  “I appreciate the offer. I’ll be here.”




  Bingham watched out his window as Dunham fired up a ramshackle car and drove to the door of number 7. He left the engine running while he dragged a couple of duffel bags inside, then came out, locked the door behind him, got in his car, and drove out onto the street.




  





  





  




  6th Avenue Bus Depot




  Anchorage, Alaska, 2:20 p.m.




  Dunham spotted Summer Henderson as soon as he entered the bus depot. She was alone and on edge, a small, skinny girl with close-cropped, almost-blond hair, who was trying to look older than she was. He loitered along a wall about 20 feet away. He watched a couple guys try to pick her up, one of whom he was pretty sure was a pimp, but she rebuffed them both, fear evident in her every move.




  After nearly a half an hour, Dunham watched a man approach Summer with a $50 bill in his hand. Dunham slipped quickly and quietly through the crowded bus depot until he was behind this guy.




  Approaching Summer, the guy with the $50 bill flashed a winning smile, held out the bill, and asked, “Do you have change for a fifty?”




  Summer eyed him nervously for a second, decided he wasn’t trying to pick her up, and offered a faint smile in return.




  “Yes. It’ll take me a minute to dig it out, though.”




  She slipped her purse strap off of her shoulder and set it in her lap preparing to open it. In a flash, the guy grabbed the purse and spun around to flee.




  Just as he finished turning, Dunham’s fist, backed by a powerful torso strengthened and toned during hundreds of hours in the prison weight room, thudded into the thief’s gut with the power of a pile driver. With the wind knocked out of him, the thief doubled over in time to catch Dunham’s knee smashing into his face, breaking his nose. As the thief writhed on the floor struggling for breath, Dunham reached down and plucked the purse and the $50 bill from his hands. Even as he gasped for air the thwarted purse snatcher drug himself toward the door, holding his stomach and dripping blood from his nose.




  Dunham extended the purse to Summer. “I believe this is yours.”




  “Thank you, thank you.” She clutched the bag to her chest.




  “Do you want to stick around until the cops show up or should we get out of here?”




  Summer looked up at him with fear in her eyes. “I can’t talk to the cops.”




  “Are you hungry? There’s a McDonald’s a few blocks from here on 4th Avenue. We can use the thief’s money for something to eat.”




  Summer looked him up and down closely before offering a tremulous smile.




  “That would be great. My name…my name is Summer,” she stammered softly, looking down at her shoes.




  “And I’m Phil.”




  He took her arm, hoisted her backpack over his shoulder, and they ducked out the nearest exit onto 6th Avenue, crossed the street, and walked north a couple of blocks to 4th Avenue, then east to the MacDonald’s located in what was locally known as the Post Office Mall.




  At the counter, Summer quickly ordered, “I’ll have two cheeseburgers, large fries and a chocolate shake.”




  Dunham added a Quarter-Pounder and a small diet Coke to the order and proffered a $10 bill. He pocketed the change, waited until the food was placed on a tray, then led Summer to a table near the back wall from which he could survey the entire restaurant.




  She wolfed down everything she ordered in minutes, slurping up the last drops of melted ice cream from her milkshake. Dunham offered her more, but she declined. Dunham smiled slightly and started a conversation about why she was alone on the streets of Anchorage.




  





  





  6th Avenue Police Station




  Anchorage, Alaska, 6 p.m.




  “Here you go, Rick,” the shift supervisor said, handing over a case file. “Hot off the press.”




  Detective Gomez looked at the file. “Another runaway?”




  “Probably. It’s cold outside, so she likely won’t last very long. Might just be skipping school.”




  “As long as some pervert doesn’t grab her. Christ, she’s barely 13 years old; had a birthday just before Christmas. Do we have a picture?”




  “I just sent an officer out to interview the parents. Her mother said she would provide a picture. You’ll probably have it in a couple of hours.”




  “I’ll get this written up quickly. I’m already on overtime. I’ll deal with getting the photo copied and distributed tomorrow. Did you tell the night shift to check the usual places like the bus depot downtown? Maybe leave a note to that effect for the graveyard shift. Also have the day shift check Central Middle School. She might just try to contact her friends.”




  “Already put the bus depot in the log for the night shift. I’ll go add the school to the logbook for the day shift.”




  Detective Gomez sat down at his typewriter and began punching the keys with only his index fingers. Typing with only two fingers, in short order he wrote in all capital letters:




  





  





  M-E-M-0




  TO: ALL SHIFT SUPERVISORS




  FROM: DETECTIVE DIVISION, SGT. GOMEZ




  DATE: 2/11/91




  RE: CASE NO.:1991-01125




  SUBJECT: MISSING PERSON




  NAME: SUMMER HENDERSON




  AGE: 13; DOB: 12-16-1977




  ADL: NONE




  SSN: UNKNOWN




  SEX: FEMALE




  HEIGHT: 61 INCHES




  WEIGHT: 90-95 POUNDS




  HAIR: LIGHT BROWN, SHORT




  EYES: BLUE




  REPORTED MISSING BY: MOTHER, MRS. JANE THOMAS. (ADDRESS AND OTHER DETAILS WHEN AVAILABLE.)




  CLOTHING: LAST KNOWN WEARING BLUE JEANS, LIGHT-COLORED BUTTON SHIRT, HEAVY GREEN DOWN JACKET, DISTINCTIVE RED AND YELLOW STRIPED SOCKS, CARRYING A BLUE AND GRAY BACKPACK




  LAST SEEN: AT HOME ABOUT 7 AM 2/11/91.




  FIRST REPORTED MISSING: 5:30 PM 2/11/91.




  ADD’L INFO: PHOTO TO FOLLOW




  LOCATE, DETAIN AND TRANSPORT TO FAMILY AND YOUTH SERVICES




   




  





  Gomez jerked the page from the typewriter, read it over quickly, went to the duplicating machine, and made 100 copies. He wrote a short note to the shift supervisors asking that a copy be given to every officer on patrol.




   




  





  





  Apartment 1, Spenard Arms Apartments




  Anchorage, Alaska, 6:05 p.m.




  “When this guy gets here, let me do the talking,” Bingham told Koho. “If he’s our man, we don’t wanna spook him. Got it?”




  “Yeah,” Koho said. “We wanna go easy until we know he’s in.”




  “Might have Velda visit him, too. She finally paid the January rent but we’re into February so there’s another interest payment due. Maybe I can have her do him. This guy’s been in the slammer for a couple of years, so even her skinny bag of bones should look good to him when she peels off her panties. Get him laid and he might think he owes us.”




  Koho had the television tuned to Channel 13, so he could watch Jeopardy and Wheel of Fortune, and, as always, was trying to answer the questions before the contestants. Shortly after 6:15, just as Double Jeopardy started, there was a heavy thumping at the door.




  “Come in, door’s open,” Bingham yelled from the kitchen.




  Dunham pushed in the door, and walked into the living room leading a girl by the hand. She looked like she belonged at a junior high slumber party playing with Barbie dolls.




  “So much for a Velda visit,” Koho murmured, garnering a bewildered look from Dunham and a glare from Bingham. The girl smiled nervously.




  Then Bingham grinned broadly, almost laughing.




  “There’s beer in the ‘fridge,” he said. “Help yourself. I’m making some Rice-A-Roni® and heating up some beanie weenies. Won’t be long.




  “The klutz in front of the television is my roommate, Del Koho.”




  “Do you have any soda?” the girl whispered. “I’m not old enough to drink beer.”




  “Honey, we don’t check ID in this house,” Bingham said. “Just don’t tell anybody what you do here.”




  “Have a beer,” Dunham said. “It’s one of the new experiences I promised you this afternoon.




  “By the way, this here’s Summer.” Dunham did not offer a last name.




  Bingham and Koho exchanged glances.




  Bingham handed a form to Dunham. “I’ve already filled in fake references for you. Owner won’t check them, but they’re supposed to be on the form. Only thing the he cares about is the money you paid.”




  Eying Summer, Bingham said, “I should warn you, the cops come here a lot. Velda in number 8 gets busted every so often for turning tricks, a lot of drug deals go down in the parking lot, and some people don’t have the brains to turn down their stereos. Keep things quiet and stay away from the drugs and you should pretty much stay under the police radar.”




  “You and I both know enough to stay away from the drugs since we have to piss in a cup every couple of weeks,” Dunham said. “As for a stereo, I don’t have one. You’ll never know we’re even here unless you come visit.”




  Summer heard what was being said and stared wide-eyed at the men. It had taken her a minute to realize she was listening to these guys talk about a prostitute, drug deals, and cops in the parking lot of where they lived. None of those subjects had ever come up in her Government Hill home.




  When Phil handed her a beer, she drank it down without even thinking about it. She took a second one from Phil when he offered and drank it almost as quickly.




  Bingham looked her over carefully. Her eyes glittered and she tottered a bit on the stool on which she sat. He figured she’d be pretty tipsy with just another beer or two. Looks like she’s losing her virginity a couple of ways tonight.




  “How’d you meet Phil, Summer?” Koho asked.




  “He beat up a guy who tried to rob me at the bus station,” Summer said in a rush. “And I didn’t have any place to go for tonight, you know, so he offered to let me move in with him. He said, ‘I’ll take care of you if you take care of me.’”




  Summer offered this explanation to remind herself of how much she owed Phil.




  They ate the beanie weenies and the rice without much conversation. Along the way, Summer fetched a third can of beer for herself. She wanted the empty feeling spreading through her mind to continue, and realized she needed another beer to keep it going. Finishing it, standing became a problem. And for a fleeting moment she had this horrible feeling that she was going to barf.




  Shortly after 8 p.m. the evening ended. Dunham was obviously anxious to take Summer home. Her weaving around the Bingham’s apartment offered the excuse he needed to make his goodbyes.




  As they left, Bingham said to Koho, “We’ve got him. We need to string him along some, but we can send him back to jail tomorrow. If that girl’s older than about 12, I’m a fuckin’ priest.




  “And, after talking to him this afternoon about blowing things up, I’ve decided on a bridge. That newspaper article a couple weeks ago said the Yukon River Bridge was the one to worry about. We’ll take a road trip to look it over in a month or two when it warms up.




  “Meanwhile, go to the library and find out everything you can about the Yukon River and the pipeline. There’s gotta be a bunch of stuff from the newspapers during construction days and maybe some other sources as well. I’d really like to have a picture of the Yukon River Bridge if you can find one.”




  





  





  Apartment 7, Spenard Arms Apartments




  Anchorage, Alaska, 8:10 p.m.




  Summer slowly looked around Dunham’s apartment. Her backpack lay on the floor just inside the door where she had dropped it next to his duffel bags before going over to Bingham’s. A pile of days-old dirty dishes left by the previous tenants teetered in the sink under a dripping faucet; a stained, sagging sofa sat along the far wall of the front room and the carpet was filthy. The place reeked of cigarette smoke and stale beer.




  “Don’t you have a TV?” she asked.




  “Not yet, Baby,” Dunham purred. “I think we can find some other things to do, though, until I can come up with one.”




  “What kind of other things?” She weaved back and forth, the beer numbing her brain.




  “I told you that we were going to treat each other like grown-ups and take care of each other and that’s what you said you wanted. How much do you know about being a grown-up?”
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